POST-WAR AIRLINES OF INDIA
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PART ONE -
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One of Tata's first aircrafi was de Havilland DH.83 Fox Moth VT-AFI (c¢/n
4081) purchased in 1934, and which flew well into the war years before

impressment (Ed Coates Collection)

Of these, the most prominent was Tata Air Lines, founded as
the Aviation Department of Tata Sons Ltd., in July 1932. Its creation had
come about on the initiative of former RAF pilot, Neville Vincent, whose
idea was to carry incoming mail onwards from the Imperial Airways ter-
minus at Karachi all the way to Colombo. Teaming up with Jehangir R.D.
Tata, himself a pilot who was later known and respected as ‘JRD’ in air-
line circles, the pair created the Aviation Department. Heir apparent to the
giant family iron and steel concern, JRD persuaded his seniors to provide
the necessary capital for the purchase of two de Havilland Puss Moths.
with which to begin services. These got underway on October 15, when
JRD flew a Puss Moth (probably VT-ACZ) southbound from Karachi to
Bombay (Mumbai), via a fuel stop at Ahmedabad, carrying 55Ib of mail.
Vincent took over for the second leg to Madras (Chennai) via Bellary
(Ballari, Karnataka), returning northbound two days later.

From this modest beginning, the network grew over the next
six years to take in India’s major cities and Colombo, using Wacos and a
variety of de Havilland types, including Fox Moths, Dragon Rapides and
even two second-hand DH.86 airliners. At this stage, Tata Air Lines, as it
had become, boasted a fleet of fifteen aircraft, flying scheduled services
covering over 1.6 million miles annually whilst achieving an average 99.4
per cent despatch reliability.

During the early days of World War Two, Tata’s DH.86s and
Rapides were requisitioned by the Indian Government for coastal patrols
and courier duties. For the next five years a substantial part of the airline’s
resources were directed towards the war effort, providing military co-
operation flights, casevac, overhaul and flight testing of RAF aircraft, as
well as participating in the evacuation of refugees during the
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One of two DH.86s flown by Tata, I"I'—:M’.\I (c 6) was
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rchased from QANTAS in September 1938.

FOLLOWING TATA’S LEAD

Alongside Tata, two other major carriers that had commenced
operations in the thirties survived to continue flying after World War Two.
Most prominent was Indian National Airways, which had cor
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DH.89A4 Dragon Rapide VT-ARK was one of four aircraft shipped to India
aboard the Fort Camouson, arriving on September 23 1943. She is pic-
tured here in wartime camouflage being flown by Air India
(Ed Coates Collection)

A third significant airline company entered the Indian commer-
cial scene in September 1936, when Air Services of India was created to
promote services to the relatively remote Kathiawar peninsular, north of
Bombay. Operations began in November 1937 with a four-times w eekly
Bombay-Bhavnagar-Rajkot-Jamnagar-Porbandar run at fares slightly
above second-class rail travel. In the first month of operation almost one

(Peter Keating Collection)




drop in the area, with the loss of eight lives.

thousand passengers boarded the aircraft. Types used were Percival Gulls,
a de Havilland Dragonfly, a Fox Moth and Dragon Rapides. In November
1938 a new route was opened linking Baroda with Amreli, and from
January 1940 the Kathiawar service was extended north to Bhuj under
subsidy from the Kutch princely state. Despite good load factors, the air-
line was always under-funded, and operations were suspended in February
1941, only to be restarted under new ownership after World War Two.

POST-WAR REVIVAL

Together with the other established carriers that had main-
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The assets of Air Services of India were acquired by the

Indian National Airways Douglas DC-3 VI-ARH (c/n 4851) was delivered to the airline on June 26
Later flown by Dalmia Jain Airways and Indamer, she was written off near Lamaking, Assam, on

| wartime service with the Royal Air Force.

957 after crashing while making an aerial food
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gation Company in 1943; the airline’s post-war presi-
pnaldshay, former Governor of Bengal and Secretary of
ow known as ‘The Scindia Line’, operations recom-
946, with a daily service between Bombay, Jamnagar

ia Indore and Gwalior began in April 1949, and from July a
ute linked Bombay with Indore, Bhopal, Kanpur (Cawnpore)
cnow. By early 1949 it had returned to its old stamping ground,
lights to Keshod, Rajkot and Porbandar, and later a southerly route
opened serving Poona (Pune), Belgaum, Bangalore and Cochin.
owever, in common with the majority of its smaller counterparts, it
recorded continuous losses, which by 1951 amounted to around £7,500
annually, despite receiving a subsidy of £30,000. Apart from the usual
selection of DC-3s and Dragon Rapides, one unusual type, a French
SNCASO Corse, briefly joined the fleet late in 1949,

A BLUEPRINT FOR CHAOS

Benefitting from the inherited wartime infrastructure, when
civil flying resumed on January 1 1946, India emerged with eleven rea-
sonably modern airports, together with established meteorological, navi-
gation and wireless aids. As early as 1943, Sir Frederick Tymms, promi-
nent colonial aviator and latterly India’s Director-General of Civil
Aviation, had conducted a study which recommended the licensing of no
more than four airline companies to service the country’s post-war air
transport needs. The Air Transport Licensing Board, formed in October
1946, concurred, but the minister responsible deemed otherwise and
granted permits to no less than eleven companies, including the three
established airlines; a recipe for vast over-capacity and subsequent fail-
ures. Indeed, within the first couple of years at least three of the smaller
airlines had fallen by the wayside. The uncertainty caused by allocation
of routes on a year-to-year basis stifled investment, and was not resolved
until 1949 when the government began granting licences to airlines for a
full ten-year term.

Complementing the pre-war survivors, the new companies fly-
ing services in India were:-

Airways (India) Ltd., based at Calcutta, was registered in September
1945, and early operations comprised charter services, flying training and
a non-scheduled mail service into Assam using an Airspeed Consul.
Scheduled services were launched in September 1947 over the multi-stop
Calcutta-Madras-Bangalore line. Dacca was added in June 1948, and in
February 1949 routes to Assam were licensed for scheduled operation,
making the airline the first to provide tourist services to this region from
Delhi. A second trunk route to Bombay via Nagpur was also flown, as
were flights down to Burma. The fleet comprised DC-3s, a Catalina and
a pair of Doves, one of which was unfortunate enough to be struck by a
vulture at Calcutta, and later peppered with bullets on the ground in
Burma. One of the airline’s DC-3s crashed in the Khasi Hills on April 14
1953 with the loss of three lives. VT-AUJ was operating a cargo charter
from Gauhati to Calcutta carrying two elephants and some tea chests, and
was destroyed after making a number of sudden and violent manoeuvres
which led to structural failure. After nationalisation in August 1953,
Airways (India) Ltd., received approval to continue to operate non-sched-
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Douglas DC-3 VI-COI (¢/n 13137) was registered to the Indamer
Company on August 23 1947, and is seen here sporting the livery of
Bombay-based Ambica Airlines. (Charles Holland Collection)

uled flights until September 1955.

Ambica Airlines, a subsidiary of the Shri Ambica Steam
Navigation Company, commenced operations in March 1947 over routes
to the north of Bombay. It was particularly unfortunate that six of
Ambica’s aircraft, including two Dakotas, were damaged at Juhu Airport
by a cyclone that struck Bombay late in November 1948. The airline
appeared to lack proper financial support from the parent company, and
was seriously under-capitalised. Unsurprisingly, it ceased operations and
was liquidated in February 1949. Services largely mirrored those of other
carriers, extending from Bombay to Ahmedabad, Calcutta, Amritsar and
Madras employing Dakotas, Beech 18s and sundry smaller types.

Bharat Airways - one of India’s more adventurous post-war
carriers — was formed by the Biria industrial group in August 1945 with a
capital of £3.75 million. Headed by Basani Kumar Biria, operations
began in June 1947 with a thrice-weekly DC-3 service connecting
Calcutta, Gaya and Lucknow. The network was gradually extended north-
wards into Assam, and down as far as Chittagong. The airline also took
delivery of Bristol 170 Freighter Mk.IIA VT-CGX in December 1946,
which remained with the airline until 1950. One of the airline’s DC-3s,
converted by Scottish Aviation, was supplied in VIP configuration with a
pressurised sub-cabin controlled by airlocks, for use by top government
officials. However, the conversion took rather longer than expected — for-
mer RAF Dakota G-AJLX arrived at Prestwick on February 25 1947, and
finally aspired to her C of A on July 28 1949, becoming VT-DDK in ser-
vice with Bharat.

Following a survey flight in March 1949, Bharat’s Douglas
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DC-4s opened a fortnightly run between Calcutta and Bangkok.
aircraft were acquired, comprising VI-CYK, VI-CZT and VT-CZ
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second trunk route directly to Bombay.
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services were hal political unrest surrounding the semi-
on into the Republic of India. The airline’s
engineering : sontract from the Indian Air Force to main-
tain thej et, and there was an unverified report from
1949 tha stS@eccan ordered four Airspeed Ambassadors. From
eccan Airways participated in the Night Mail
; arried passengers onward to Calcutta. In February
| Government acquired the Hyderabad Government’s
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autonomous state’s

ded further southwards to Mangalore. In 1952/53 Deccan
yvered more than two million miles carrying 43,200 passengers,
)5 tonnes of cargo and 1,770 tonnes of mail, but was still recording
| losses in the region of £200,000. Like Bharat Airways, Deccan
vays was absorbed by Indian Airlines Corporation in August 1953.
Himalayan Aviation Ltd., was founded in May 1948 largely
through the involvement of Boris Lissanevich, celebrated as the *Father of
Nepalese Tourism’. Lissanevich, a white Russian émigré and former star
dancer with Diaghilev’s acclaimed ‘Ballet Russe’, settled in Calcutta in
the late thirties. Here he set up the ‘300 Club’, the only such establish-
ment in the city that remained open 24 hours a day and catered for both
European and Indian clientele without discrimination. As a result of his
contacts, he was to play a significant part in restoring the deposed monar-
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chy to Nepal, and later settled there to become proprietor of the renowned
Royal Hotel in Kathmandu.

During an early post-war visit to the Maharajah of Cooch
Behar (Assam), Lissanevich was flown in a chartered aircraft by Stefan
Bujakowski, a Russian-speaking Pole and former RAF pilot. Bujakowski
persuaded Boris to use his influence with General Mahabir Shamsher Jung
Bahadur, a displaced Nepalese prince, to buy a surplus Dakota. Two more
followed to form the nucleus of Himalayan Aviation in 1948, with General
Mahabir becoming Chairman and Bujakowski his Operations Manager.
With its headquarters in Calcutta, Himalayan Aviation also offered a pho-
tographic service and undertook the sale and repair of aircraft and engines.

Initially the company flew non-scheduled passenger and cargo
services mainly into Assam, which had become increasingly isolated after
the creation of neighbouring East Pakistan in 1947. In October 1949

Himalayan Aviation took over the Night Mail contract after the failure of

the previous contractor, Indian Overseas Airlines. Himalayan then main-
tained the service until June 1951, when it passed to Deccan Airways.
After the ousting of the ruling oligarchy in Nepal and return of the
monarch, Himalayan began flying into Kathmandu on a regular basis,
whilst also operating cross-country to Allahabad and Kabul via Karachi,
Zahedan (Persia) and Kandahar, with a view to regular operations. The
inaugural flight took place early in December 1951 with a Dakota carrying
five passengers including the Indian Air Attaché to Afghanistan, but the
aircraft was detained by the authorities at Karachi, and forced to return to
Jamnagar. Thereafter, some services were flown over this route, but oper
ations were intermittent due political instability in the region.

Indian Overseas Airlines title assumed late in 194
Originally formed as Mistri Airways early in 1946 by Rusi Mistri y
paid-up share capital of £600,000. Douglas DC-3 VT-AZC was r
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n another of Chettiar’s businesses, Jupiter General Insurance,
loyed the slogan, ‘By Jupiter, it’s quick’. Scheduled services
Rare photograph of Jupiter Airways Douglas DC-3 VI-CHF (c/n 11810)

“Sarasvathi”, which was sold to Deccan Airways in June 1949, before
being taken over by Indian Airlines. (Ed Coates Collection)

Deccan Airways Douglas DC-3 VI-AUP (c/n 19151) “Rani of Jhansi"
showing signs of her former USAAF wartime colours.

were flown between Madras, Vizagapatnam, Nagpur and Delhi, while
Hyderabad and Bhophal were also served. However, the
badly undercapitalised and was wound up in March 1949,

Kalinga Air Lines came into being in 194
to conduct scheduled services between Calcutta an

all four crew
3 Kalinga was

reconstituted as a private charter airline.
Orient Airways was forme
by the Ispahani brothers from the notable ily, primarily to serve
the needs of the local Moslem ¢cgmmunity. The company was largely
formed on the initiative of innah, lg@er to become President of
Pakistan, and charter services V aunched in April 1947 with a fleet of
six Douglas DC-3s comprisi . VT-CIE, VT-CIF, VT-CIG, VT-
CIH and VT-C1J and a si entinel. Two months later, in June
1947, scheduled flights between Calcutta and Rangoon via
Chittagong and Az parently enjoyed a good reputation.
The airline’s mana irec /as none other than T. Neville Stack, a
famous British pi e-war era who had flown to Karachi in a
¢ died in tragic circumstances in February
aneurism and fell under a truck.
, Orient Airways was re-registered in Pakistan

on October 23 1946

Orient Airways Douglas DC-3 VI-CIJ (c/n 12089) joined the airline in
February 1947. (Charles Holland Collection)

and moved headquarters to Chittagong in East Pakistan on August | 1948,
and later to Karachi. Thereafter, it remained in business mainly operating
the important trunk route linking Karachi with Dacca, latterly with a small
fleet of Convair 240s in addition to the DC-3s. One of the Convairs was
lost on March 13 1953 when it crashed into a mountain peak in the Tripura
region of India whilst en-route from Delhi to Dacca. The cause was later
attributed to the pilot descending in poor visibility whilst trying to estab-
lish his position. Sixteen passengers and crew perished in the disaster, and
Orient Airways ceased operations shortly afterwards, with its fleet being
absorbed by Pakistan International Airlines.

An anomaly existed in the Portuguese territory of Goa, effec-
tively blockaded by India in the post-independence years. Following a
study by the Portuguese Air Force, several airports were constructed and
Transportes Aereos da India Portuguesa (TAIP) was created to provide
vital communications with the outside world. Two de Havilland Herons
(CR-IAA & CR-IAB) were purchased, and in August 1955 CR-IAA,
flown by a military crew, opened the first service from the capital Dabolim
to the regional town Diu, followed by a service to Daméo a fortnight later.
The short-range Herons proved unsuitable to fulfil international ambi-
tions, and as a result two Vickers Vikings (CR-IAC & CR-IAD) were
obtained with which a service to Karachi was commenced around May
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Passengers disembarking from TAIP Douglas C-54B Skymaster CR-IAE (c/nilf 044 il hrain in January 1961. (Albert Day)

1956. Early operations were not without hazard, since the Indian mi& craft Services. It was a leisurely affair, with the Viking eventually
¢ 0 parting to Lisbon via Birmingham on September 14 1960. Two
Douglas DC-6Bs (CR-IAG & CR-IAH) joined the fleet in September
1961, but just two months later in mid-December, following increasingly
hostile action by Indian air and sea forces, TAIP was forced to cease fly-

had sited anti-aircraft batteries within a mile of the air corridors.
the Vikings was also damaged when CR-IAD crashed into a bu
while landing at Karachi inbound from Goa on November 2 1957,
result of this accident, the aircraft was retired from service.

Reduced to a single Viking, and with aspirations to estab ing. The airline’s remaining aircraft were flown to Lisbon carrying gov-
air connection to the mother country, TAIP purchased two f§ ernment officials and their families, and these aircraft were subsequently
Air Lines Douglas DC-4s via Californian aircraft broker Stewa transferred to the Portuguese Air Force, TAP and SATA. Goa itself was
late in 1957 to open a twice-monthly service to L‘on v : i officially annexed by India in March 1962.

i 3 = il Part Two of Airlines of India will feature in the 2020 Annual, and will
and C-54A Skymaster CR-IAF joined the airline in ki : R o

4 T " cover the period following nationalisation in 1953.
very quickly broadened the airline’s horizons
were also undertaken between Jeddah und.a
route was later inaugurated to Lourengo Marqu
Aden, Mombasa or Dar-es-Salaam and Beiraggi
Viking arrived at Wymeswold on Augus'

With thanks to Eddie Coates for providing several rare photographs from
his extensive collection.
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